**The State of South Carolina
In the Supreme Court**

Appeal from S.C. Worker's Compensation Commission
Appellate Panel

Susan S. Barden, Commissioner
Avery B. Wilkerson, Commissioner
Gene McCaskill, Commissioner

RECEIVED

JUN 11 2015

SC Court of Appeals

W.C.C. File No. 1203664
Ct. App. Appellate No. 2013-001778
S.C. Ct. App. Op. No. 2015-UP-041, filed January 21, 2015

Nathalie I. Davaut,

Petitioner

v.

University of South Carolina,
and State Accident Fund,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Paul L. Reeves, S.C. Bar # 4671
Reeves Law Firm, LLC
1527 Blanding Street
P.O. Box 11126
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803)929-0001
Paul@PLRLawFirm.com

Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the denial of worker's compensation benefits for a work-related injury sustained by the Employee when she was struck by a vehicle while walking across a public street from her Employer's office building to her car in a University parking lot?

Or an otherwise restated:

- I. Did the mere act of crossing a public street within the boundaries of the Employer's property remove the Employee from the course and scope of her employment when she had not yet had the opportunity to get to her car parked on her Employer's premises?
 - A. Did the Court of Appeals overlook or misapprehend the legal premise that a claimant is the course of her employment if she is in a reasonable margin or time and space necessary to be used in passing to and from the place where she has been conducting her work?
 - B. Did the Court of Appeals overlook or misapprehend the legal premise that an injury arises out or and in the course of her employment where she is be injured while passing from her work over the premises of another in such proximity and relation as to be in practical effect a part of the employer's premises?
- II. Can the denial of benefits be sustained by the fact that the Employee made a discretionary choice as to which available University lot she parked her car in when she arrived at work on the day of the accident?
 - A. Did the Court of Appeals misapprehend and overlook the uncontroverted testimony that faculty members are allowed to park in the parking lot across the street?
 - B. Did the Court of Appeals misapprehend and overlook undisputed evidence that the Claimant chose to park across the street only because she could not find a parking space in the lot nearest her office building?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This workers' compensation case arises from a work-related accident that occurred when the Claimant, an employee of the University of South Carolina, was struck by a truck as she was walking to her car which was parked on the Employer's property after exiting the building where she had been working late on the evening of February 16, 2012. Claimant filed the Employee's Notice of Claim on April 18, 2012. [ROA 20.] Claimant filed her Request for Hearing on May 22, 2012. [ROA 22.] Employer timely filed an Employer's Answer denying the claim. [ROA 25.] The matter was heard by the Single Commissioner on September 25, 2012. [ROA 31.] The Single Commissioner found that Claimant had failed "to prove an injury by accident arising out of and in the course and scope of her employment" in an Order of November 6, 2012. [ROA 8.]

Claimant timely filed a Request for Commission Review on November 26, 2012. [ROA 26.] The Appellate Panel heard the Claimant's appeal on March 18, 2013. The Panel issued an Order on July 22, 2013 affirming the decision of the Single Commissioner. [ROA 1.] Claimant filed this appeal on August 20, 2013. [ROA 28.]

The Court of Appeals issued an opinion affirming the Commission's decision on January 21, 2015. [App. 1.] The Claimant timely filed a petition for rehearing on February 4, 2015. [App. 4.] The Court issued an order denying rehearing on May 8, 2015. [App. 24.]

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Employer, The University of South Carolina-Lancaster, is a branch of the University of South Carolina located in Lancaster, South Carolina. The campus is dissected by a public highway, Hubbard Drive, which runs west to east. [ROA 159.] The

University owns property on the north and south side of Hubbard Drive, but most of the campus classrooms are located on the south-side of Hubbard Drive. [ROA 159.]

Claimant is a professor of foreign languages at the University, where she teaches Spanish and French. [ROA 96.] She has achieved multiple degrees, including a Bachelor's in English Studies, and Masters' in English Linguistics, French Literature, and Spanish, and she also has a Ph.D. in French Literature and Civilization. [ROA 89.] She has been a full-time professor with the Employer at the Lancaster campus since 2008. [ROA 95.]

Hubbard Drive dissects through the University Campus. Employee's office is located in the Medford Building which is located on the south-side of Hubbard Drive. [ROA 96, 159, 183.] The Medford Library is housed in the same building. [ROA 152, 209.] The Claimant does not have an assigned, reserved faculty parking spot designated for her personal, exclusive use. [ROA 110.] There is no separate faculty parking lot for the Medford Building; rather, there are only a limited number of spaces specifically designated for faculty in the parking lot on the south-side of Hubbard Drive nearest her office. [ROA 110.] On the morning of the accident, Tuesday, February 16, 2012, the Claimant looked for a parking space in the University faculty/student lot nearest to her office, but she was unable to find any available spaces in that lot. [ROA 108.] She then drove to the next closest University parking lot which is adjacent to the University's Carole Ray Dowling Center located on the north-side of Hubbard Drive, where she was able to find a space and parked. [ROA 108.] The parking lot, owned and maintained by the University, is provided for faculty/staff/students and the general public having business on the campus. [ROA 194.] There is a marked crosswalk on Hubbard Drive between the two

parking lots. [ROA 165.] The Employee was walking in the crosswalk when she was struck. [ROA 141, 144.]

According to John Catalano, Ph.D., Dean of the School, there is insufficient faculty parking on the south-side of Hubbard Drive during certain times of day and on certain days of the week, particularly on Tuesdays and Thursdays. He further testified that on those busy Tuesdays and Thursdays, faculty and staff members regularly use the parking lots on the north-side of Hubbard Drive, where Claimant parked her vehicle on that Tuesday, the day the accident: "Not unusual at all for faculty members or a staff member to park in this parking lot on the west side of Carol Ray Dowling. I have seen faculty members and staff members park there on Tuesdays and Thursdays especially." [ROA 193; see also ROA 163-64.]

After parking, the Claimant walked across Hubbard Drive to the Medford Building where her office was located and she went about her duties throughout the day. [ROA 108.] She normally worked from 9-5pm, but on that day, she did not leave her work at the usual time. Instead, she walked downstairs to the Library to work on a special project at the request of her supervisor.¹ [ROA 106-107, 114.] Immediately before 9:00 p.m., the Claimant returned materials to the Library staffer on duty and left the building to walk to her vehicle which was still parked in the University lot on the north-side of Hubbard. [ROA 109-10, 126, 140-141, 243.]

¹ The special project consisted of serving on a University faculty search committee and involved reviewing resumes of applicants for a foreign languages instructor's position. Those resumes were on reserve in the Library.¹ [ROA100, 214.] While this committee was not part of the Claimant's assigned teaching duties, her participation in the project had been requested specifically by her supervisor, Bruce Nims, Ph.D.[ROA 210, 100.]

The Claimant was using the designated crosswalk that connected the south-side of the Employer's premises to the north-side across Hubbard Drive. [ROA 141, 144, 245.] Before she reached the University parking lot, she was struck by a truck. [ROA 245, 127-128.] The Claimant testified that she walked the most-direct route from the Library to the place where the accident occurred. [ROA 140-141.]

Summary of Argument

This workers' compensation case arises from a work-related accident that occurred when the Claimant, an employee of the University of South Carolina at the USC- Lancaster campus, was struck by a truck in a public street as she was walking from her Employer's building to her car which was parked in a lot owned and maintained by the University. The Workers' Compensation Appellate Panel denied benefits based on a finding that the Claimant did not suffer an injury arising out of and in the course of her employment because she was injured on a public street not controlled by the Employer and she made the choice to park in a lot that required her to cross the street. In affirming the denial of benefits, the Court of Appeals finds that the Appellate Panel's decision is supported by substantial evidence that:

Davaut was injured while walking across Hubbard Drive towards the parking lot at the Carole Ray Dowling Center. She admitted that faculty members parked in the Dowling Center lot "sometimes, probably not very often," and assistant librarian David Helwer testified the Dowling Center lot "meant nothing to [him]" before Davaut's accident. Moreover, while the Dowling Center lot was located on the north side of Hubbard Drive, all faculty parking was located on the south side. [App. 2.]

The Employee petitions this Court pursuant to Rule 242, SCACR, for a writ of certiorari for review of the Court of Appeals' decision on the grounds that the Court of Appeals is in conflict with prior decisions of the Supreme Court on the "going and coming

rule,” including Howell v. Pacific Mills, 291 S.C., 469, 354 S.E.2d 384 (1987), and Williams v. South Carolina State Hospital, 254 S.C. 377, 140 S.E.2d 601 (1965). This case presents a novel question to the extent that the Appellate Courts have not yet addressed the issue of whether an injury on premises not controlled by the employer (such as a public street) is “in the course of employment” if the employee parks in an employer-maintained parking lot and is injured going between the parking area and the employer's place of business. While this Court specifically declined to address the question of adopting a “divided premises rule” in Howell because the employee had never even entered the parking area that was maintained by the employer, the Employee in this case had parked in the Employer’s lot. The Claimant submits that she had not left the Employer’s premises yet, and she still was in the course of her employment while walking to her car in the University lot, because she had yet to access the ability to exit the employer’s property. Camp v. Spartan Mills, 302 S.C. 348, 396 S.E.2d 121 (Ct.App.1990).

In addition, while the standard of review only allows review of factual findings under the substantial evidence standard, the Court of Appeals has overlooked the undisputed, relevant facts that she did not could not find a parking space in the faculty/student lot nearest her office building on the north side of Hubbard Drive, and she properly parked in a lot authorized for faculty parking across the street. Workers' compensation law is supposed to be liberally construed in favor of coverage in order to serve the beneficent purpose of the Act.” This fundamental concept is ill served if the Employee is denied benefits because she made a discretionary choice to park “across the street” when she could not find a space in the lot closest to the building where she worked.

ARGUMENT

THE CLAIMANT IS ENTITLED TO BENEFITS FOR THE WORK-RELATED INJURY SHE SUSTAINED WHEN SHE WAS STRUCK BY A VEHICLE WHILE WALKING ACROSS A PUBLIC STREET FROM HER EMPLOYER'S OFFICE BUILDING TO HER CAR WHICH WAS PARKED IN A UNIVERSITY EMPLOYEE/STAFF PARKING LOT AT THE END OF HER WORK DAY.

The Applicable Law and Standard of Review

The fundamental precepts applicable to this case are well established -- "Workers' compensation pays an employee benefits for damages resulting from personal injury or death by accident arising out of and in the course of the employment." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-310; Bentley v. Spartanburg Cnty., 398 S.C. 418, 422, 730 S.E.2d 296, 298 (2012). The Worker's Compensation Act establishes benefits for workers injured "by accident[s] arising out of and in the course of employment." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(A); Williams v. South Carolina State Hospital, 245 S.C. 377, 140 S.E.2d 601, (1965); Howell v. Pac. Columbia Mills, 291 S.C. 469, 471-72, 354 S.E.2d 384, 385 (1987). This case presents a question of whether the Claimant was injured "in the course of her employment."

"[T]he term 'in the course of' refers to the time, place, and circumstances under which the accident occurred." Howell, id. at 385. "An injury occurs in the course of employment 'when it occurs within the period of employment at a place where the employee reasonably may be in the performance of his duties and while fulfilling those duties or engaged in something incidental thereto.'" Baggott v. Southern Music, Inc., 330 S.C. 1, 5, 496 S.E.2d 852, 854 (1998).

One component of the "in the course of employment" analysis includes the "going and coming rule" which is a general rule "that an injury sustained by an employee away from the employer's premises while on his way to or from work does not arise out of and in the course of employment" Howell, id. at 385. However, the Appellate Courts have

recognized five exceptions to the general “going and coming rule”: 1) if the employer provides the means of transportation or pays travel time; 2) if the employee performs duties during his commute; 3) if the way used is inherently dangerous; 4) if the place where the injury occurs is in such close proximity to the workplace that it is brought within the scope of employment; and 5) if the injury occurs while the employee is on a special errand for the employer. *Id.*

The Commission’s findings of fact are subject to review under the substantial evidence standard. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380; Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 134-35, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981); Howell v. Pac. Columbia Mills, *supra*. However, questions of law are viewed de novo. *See Lizee v. S.C. Dep’t of Mental Health*, 367 S.C. 122, 126, 623 S.E.2d 860, 863 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[W]here the Commission's decision is controlled by an error of law, this court's review is plenary.”). “The South Carolina Court of Appeals exercises freedom and independence in deciding an issue of law in a workers' compensation case.” Thompson ex rel. Harvey v. Cisson Const. Co., 377 S.C. 137, 154, 659 S.E.2d 171 at 179(Ct. App. 2008).

In this case, the Commission denied benefits on the reasoning that the Claimant was injured on a public street not controlled by the Employer and she made the choice to park in a lot that required her to cross Hubbard Drive. The Claimant did not challenge the factual findings for it is undisputed that she was injured in a public street, and she made a discretionary decision to park across in the University lot across the street from her office building. However, the Claimant respectfully submits that the Court of Appeals misapplied the going and coming rule and misconstrued the undisputed facts.

First, in sustaining the denial of benefits “all faculty parking was located on the south side,” the Court of Appeals has overlooked the undisputed, relevant evidence regarding the parking situation on the USC Lancaster Campus. While all *designated* faculty parking was located on the south side, the Claimant did not have a designated space in that lot. Finding no place to park in the faculty/student lot nearest her office building on the north side of Hubbard Drive, and she properly parked in a lot authorized for faculty parking across the street. Regardless of the fact that the Claimant was in a public street, she was not yet “gone” from work because she had not left the Employer’s premises yet; rather, she still was in the course of her employment while walking to her car in the University lot, because she had yet to access the ability to exit the employer’s property.

I. The Claimant remained “in the course of employment” when she walked from her Employer’s office building, across a public highway to her Employer’s parking lot, so as to allow her access her car and exit the Employer’s premises at the end of her work day.

A. THE “GOING AND COMING” RULE: A claimant is the course of her employment if she is in a reasonable margin or time and space necessary to be used in passing to and from the place where she has been conducting her work.

As noted above, the phrase “in the course of employment” refers to the time, place, and circumstances under which the accident occurred. An injury occurs “in the course of” employment within the meaning of the Workers’ Compensation Act when it occurs within the period of employment and at a place where the employee reasonably may be in the performance of his duties and while fulfilling those duties or engaged in something incidental thereto. Notwithstanding that the Claimant was crossing a public street at the end of her work day, the Claimant still was in the “course and scope of her employment” as she had yet to access the University parking lot and she was injured before she ever had an opportunity to leave the Employer’s premises.

The factual and legal difference between “going and coming” to and from work and traversing to and from an Employer parking lot was contemplated and considered in Williams v. South Carolina State Hospital, when the Supreme Court stated as follows:

...Employment includes not only the actual doing of the work, but a reasonable margin of time and space necessary to be used in passing to and from the place where the work is to be done. If the employee be injured while passing, with the expressed or implied consent of the employer, to or from his work by way over the employer’s premises, or over those of another in such proximity and relation as to be in practical affect a part of the employer’s premises, the injury is one arising out of and in the course of the employment as much as though it had happened while the employee was engaged in his work at the place of its performance. In other words, the employment may begin in point of time before the work is entered upon and in point of space before the place where the work is to be done is reached.

140 S.E.2d at 603. The Court of Appeals summarily rejected the Claimant’s reliance upon Williams as being without merit because the claimant there was injured on the employer’s premises while walking to her car.² While the facts are different, the analysis is comparable and supports this Claimant’s contentions.

In Williams, the Supreme Court clearly and expressly recognized that the period of employment includes a reasonable period of time necessary for the employee to travel to a point where the employee can access the place of work and travel to the point where the employee can egress the place of work. The Court of Appeals considered the Williams decision in Camp v. Spartan Mills, in discussion of a “passing to and from” scenario as compared to the “going and coming” rule:

The course of employment includes not only the actual doing of the work but also in a reasonable margin of time and space to use in passing to and from the place where the work is done, [citing *Williams*]. The act of leaving the

² The Court of Appeals relied upon Medlin v. Upstate Plaster Serv., 329 S.C. 92, 96, 495 S.E.2d 447, 450 (1998). However, that case is inapposite because the Court was addressing the first “transportation” exception to going and coming rule where the facts were that the employer had provided transportation to the employee that was directly related to the work of employer.

employer's premises is "in course of" one's employment if the employee leaves the premises as contemplated at close of the work day.

396 S.E.2d at 122.³

It is crucial to note that in Williams, the Supreme Court recognized in plain language that the movement of the employee from the place where the work was to be performed to a place where the employee can egress and ingress the employer's premises including travel "over those [property] of another" where such premises were so close in proximity and so close in relation so as to be in practical affect a part of the employer's premises. While the claimant in Williams was walking on her employer's property to her car, that specific distinguishing fact does not negate the applicability of the Williams' decision in this case. The Claimant's case falls squarely within the Williams description in that she traveled over a public street in close proximity and so close in relation as to be in practical affect a part of the University's premises. As related above in the Statement of the Facts and seen on the campus map [ROA 152, Exhibit Number 1 to Claimant's Dep.] Hubbard Drive dissects the University campus between the Medford Building and the University parking lot (next to the Carole Ray Dowling Center) where the Claimant parked her car. The designated crosswalk where she was struck is located mid-block providing the closest access from the Medford Building area to that parking lot.

The Commission's denial of benefits rests on the fact that Hubbard Drive is a public street. However, it is of no consequence that Claimant was traversing across the public street in a direct path to reach the University parking lot. Under Williams and Camp, an employee

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