STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUL 20 2015

Appeal from South Carolina
Workers Compensation Commission

S.C. SUPREME COURT

WCC File No.: 1203664
Ct. App. Appellate No.: 2013-001778
S.C. Ct. App. Op. No. 2015-UP-041, filed January 21, 2015
Appellate Case No.: 2015-001218

Nathalie I. Davaut, Employee, Claimant, Petitioner,

v.

University of South Carolina
and State Accident Fund, Defendants, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' RETURN TO PETITION
FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Paul L. Hendrix, Esquire
S.C. Bar No.: 64217
Jones & Hendrix, P.A.
50 Applewood Lane
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29307-2225
(864) 583-5577
Paul@sccompdefense.com
Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENTS

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

A reviewing Court is prohibited from disturbing the findings of the Workers' Compensation Commission when its findings are supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E. 2d 304 (1981). A reviewing Court may not substitute its judgment for that of an agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact unless the agencies findings are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record. Grayson v. Carter Road Furniture, 317 S.C. 306, 454 S.E. 2d 320 (1995). Substantial evidence has been defined as evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the Administrative Agency reached. Gibson v.

Florence Country Club, 282 S.C. 283, 318 S.E. 2d 365 (1984). The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an Administrative Agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence. Hoxit v. Michelin Tire Corp., 304 S.C. 461, 405 S.E. 2d 407 (1991).

Where there is conflicting evidence, the findings of the Commission are conclusive, Miller v. State Roofing Company, 441 S.E. 2d 323 (1994), and when factual findings are supported by substantial evidence, analogous to a jury's findings of fact on disputed issues, the Commission's conclusions must be affirmed. Hunter v. Patrick Construction Company, 289 S.C. 46, 344 S.E. 2d 613 (1986). Final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the Commission. Ford v. Allied Chemical Corp., 252 S.C. 561, 167 S.E. 2d 564 (1969).

The Appellant states that the Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed because the Court of Appeal's opinion is in conflict with prior decisions of the Supreme Court on the "going and coming rule," including Howell v. Pacific Mills, 291 S.C., 469, 354 S.E.2d 384 (1987), and Williams v. South Carolina State Hospital, 245 S.C. 377, 140 S.E. 2d 601 (1965). In holding that the Williams case was not controlling in the case before the Court, the Court of Appeals quoted from the Howell decision wherein this Court stated "[A]ppellant contends that this case in on all fours with Williams. This contention is without merit. In Williams, the claimant was injured on the employer's premises. In the present case, appellant was injured on a public street." Howell, at 386. This is precisely the case before the Court. The Claimant also states that this case presents a novel question of law. The Respondents maintain that this issue has been addressed in the Howell decision. Furthermore, the North Carolina Supreme Court has also addressed the identical factual scenario presented in this

case and held that the Claimant did not sustain an injury by accident arising out of and in the course and scope of employment.

In Royster v. Culp, Incorporated, 343 N.C. 279, 470 S.E.2d 30 (1996), the North Carolina Supreme Court was presented with the very question raised in this case. In Royster, the claimant was injured when he was struck by a car while attempting to walk across a public highway that separated his place of employment from a parking lot which was owned and operated by the employer. In holding that the claimant had not sustained an injury by accident within the course and scope of his employment the Court applied the coming and going rule. In doing so, the Court specifically noted that, like in the case before this Court, the employer did not own or control the public street where the accident occurred. This Court has long held that decisions of the North Carolina courts interpreting the North Carolina Workers' Compensation Act are entitled to weight because the South Carolina Act was fashioned after North Carolina's. See, Anderson v. Baptist Medical Center, 343 S.C. 487, 541 S.E.2d 526 (2001); Adams v. Texfi Industries, 320 S.C. 213, 464 S.E.2d 109 (1995).

II. THE FINDING OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION THAT THE CLAIMANT DID NOT SUSTAIN AN INJURY BY ACCIDENT ARISING OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HER EMPLOYMENT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

A decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission cannot be overturned by a reviewing court unless it is clearly unsupported by substantial evidence in the record. Massey v. W.R. Grace & Company, 286 S.C. 434, 334 S.E. 2d 122 (1985). The Appellant attempts to avoid

application of the substantial evidence rule by arguing that the Court of Appeals misapplied the law in affirming the Commission's denial of her claim. The Decision and Order of the Commission is based on specific factual findings made by the Commission that support the Commission's ultimate ruling that the Claimant did not sustain a compensable accident. It is well settled in South Carolina that for an injury to be compensable under the Workers' Compensation Act, it must be caused by an accident, and arise out of and in the course of employment. S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160 (2007). The going and coming rule states that "an employee going to or coming from the place where his work is to be performed is not engaged in performing any service growing out of or incidental to his employment, and therefore, an injury suffered by accident at such time does not arise out of and in the course of his employment." Aughtry v. Abbeville County School District #60, 332 S.C. 453, 504 S.E.2d 830 (Ct. App. 1998).

There are five recognized exceptions to the going and coming rule and those consist of:

1. Where, in going to and returning from work, the means of transportation is provided by the employer, or the time that is consumed is paid for or included in the wages;
2. Where the employee, on his way to or from his work, is still charged with some duty or task in connection with his employment;
3. Where the way used is inherently dangerous and is either (a) the exclusive way of ingress and egress to and from his work; or (b) constructed and maintained by the employer;
4. That such injury incurred by a workman in the course of his travel to his place of work and not on the premises of his employer but in close proximity thereto is not compensable unless the place of injury was brought within the scope of employment by an express or implied

requirement in the contract of employment of its use by the servant in going to and coming from his work; or

5. Where the employee sustains an injury while performing a task, service, mission, or special errand for his employer, even before or after customary working hours or on a day of which he does not ordinarily work.

Bickley v. South Carolina Gas and Electric Company, 259 S.C. 463, 192 S.E.2d 866 (1972); Sola v. Sunny Slope Farms, 244 S.C. 6, 135 S.E.2d 321 (1964).

The Respondents submit that the Commission and the Court of Appeals properly applied the going and coming rule to the facts of this case. The general rule in South Carolina is that an injury sustained by the Employee while on his way to or from work does not arise out of and in the course of employment. Gallman v. Springs Mills, 201 S.C. 257, 22 S.E.2d 715. The undisputed facts in this case clearly show that the Claimant's injuries did not occur on the Employer's premises. In fact, the record reflects that the parties stipulated that the Claimant's accident occurred in a crosswalk located on Hubbard Drive that was not owned, erected or maintained by the Employer. (R. p. 36).

The evidence shows that Hubbard Drive is a public street that is owned and maintained by the town of Lancaster, South Carolina. In fact, the Director of Law Enforcement Security at the University of South Carolina – Lancaster, Mr. John Rutledge, testified that the Employer exercises no control over Hubbard Drive. (R. pp. 165-166). He further testified that traffic control on Hubbard Drive as well as all accident investigations are handled by the Lancaster Police Department. This included the investigation of the accident which resulted in the injuries sustained by the Claimant as well as the citation issued to the at fault driver that caused the Claimant's injuries. (R. p. 179).

A significant factor that cannot be disputed by the Claimant is that the Employer designated faculty parking spaces in the parking lots located on the south side of Hubbard Drive only. (R. p. 52). The Claimant admitted that when she arrived on campus on the morning of February 16, 2012, she drove through the parking lot adjacent to Hubbard Hall located on the south side of Hubbard Drive. The Claimant testified that she did not see any available faculty parking spaces in that particular parking lot. Without checking the remaining parking lots located on the south side of Hubbard Drive for a vacant space which would have eliminated her need to physically cross Hubbard Drive, the Claimant instead elected to park across the street in a parking lot provided for the general public adjacent to the Carole Ray Dowling building located on the north side of Hubbard Drive. (R. p. 108, lines 7-17). She admitted that she did so “even though it wasn’t faculty parking.” (R. p. 108, line 12). The Claimant then crossed Hubbard Drive to teach her classes and engage in her normal work activities. Her accident occurred when she was returning to her automobile later that evening and was struck in one of the three crosswalks located on Hubbard Drive.

The Claimant argues in her Brief that the Employer somehow dictated that she use the parking lot that she elected to use on the date of her accident because Thursday was a busier day of the week than normal implying that there was nowhere else to park. This assertion by the Claimant is speculative at best. By the Claimant’s own admission, she never checked any of the other parking lots on the south side of Hubbard Drive which also contain faculty designated parking. When asked at the Hearing if other faculty ever parked in the parking lot she elected to utilize on the day of her accident on the north side of Hubbard Drive the Claimant testified “sometimes, probably not very often”. (R. p. 39, line 9). Mr. Helwer, the Assistant Librarian, testified that prior to this accident

the parking lot used by the Claimant meant nothing to him because there were always available spots in the other parking lots located on the south side of Hubbard Drive. (R. p. 261, lines 1-4). Mr. Helwer also testified that he always parked in the lots designated for faculty because it was his understanding that that was what he was supposed to use since he was staff at the University. (R. p. 259, lines 10-12).

The Claimant also attempts to argue that she selected the parking lot on the north side of Hubbard Drive because it was the closest parking lot to the building where her office and classes were located. A review of the campus map demonstrates that this simply is not accurate. (R. p. 152). Not only is there another parking lot on the north side of Hubbard Drive that would have been closer to the Medford Building there are several additional parking lots on the south side of Hubbard Drive that contain faculty designated parking that would have been closer to the building the Claimant was attempting to access. The Claimant admitted that it was possible that there were other parking lots that were closer. (R. p. 51).

The Claimant's attempt to argue application of one of the five exceptions to the going and coming rule is not supported by the evidence in this case. She appears to argue that the place where her accident took place was brought within the scope of employment by an express or implied requirement in the contract of employment of its use by the servant in going to and coming from his work. See Sola v. Sunny Slope Farms, 244 S.C. 6, 135 S.E.2d 321 (1964). All of the evidence presented refutes the Claimant's assertion. Every witness, including the Claimant, acknowledged that the University did not dictate where the Claimant parked her personal vehicle. All faculty designated parking was located on the south side of Hubbard Drive. There was no faculty designated parking on the north side of Hubbard Drive. The Claimant's unilateral decision to park

on the north side of Hubbard Drive rather than take the time to check the remaining parking lots on the south side of Hubbard Drive cannot convert her discretionary choice into an express or implied requirement in her contract of employment.

The Appellant argues that the Court's decision in Howell v. Pacific Mills, 291 S.C., 469, 354 S.E.2d 384 (1987) does not apply to the facts of the case currently before this court because the Claimant in Howell was never on the premises of the Employer before she entered the crosswalk on the public street where she was injured. A review of the Howell decision reflects that it is analogous to the case currently before this Court. In Howell, the Supreme Court rejected a Claimant's attempt to argue one of the five exceptions to the going and coming rule after being injured in a crosswalk located on a public street between an Employer owned parking lot and the plant. In that case, the only Employer owned parking lot was on the other side of a public street that ran in front of the plant. While the Court in Howell noted that the Claimant had not entered the parking lot across from the plant it did so in a discussion wherein the Court was summarily dismissing the "divided premises rule" argument advanced by the Claimant in that case.

In rejecting the claimant's argument that crossing the street in a crosswalk where her injury occurred was an implied requirement in her contract of employment, the Court in Howell stated as follows:

The Employer exercised no control over which route the Appellant chose to use in coming and going from work...Appellant was plainly free to cross Heyward at many points or not to cross it at all. The logic behind Appellant's argument appears to be that since she had to cross Heyward Street to get to the mill and since there was a crosswalk in front of one entrance, it was an implied requirement of her employment that she cross the street on the crosswalk. Any injury occurring in that crosswalk, therefore, is compensable. There would be nothing to prevent this line of reasoning from being extended to mean that all Employees must leave home in order to come to work, coming to work

is an implied requirement of their employment. All accidents occurring on the way to work are compensable. This kind of reasoning would permit the exceptions to swallow the rule.

Howell, 291 S.C. at 472, 354 S.E.2d at 385.

In her Brief, the Appellant continuously asserts that she was “in the course of her employment” because her path from her Employer’s office building to her Employer’s parking lot necessarily included traversing a public street. This assertion by the Appellant is simply not supported by the evidence of record and was rejected by the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission in this claim. As with the claimant in the Howell case, the Appellant herein was free to cross Hubbard Drive at any of three crosswalks constructed and maintained by the City of Lancaster or not to cross it at all. To quote the Claimant “I decided to just park the car, **even though it wasn’t faculty parking**, to park the car there instead of trying to go all the way across campus to see if there were any other faculty spots available.” (R. p. 108, lines 7-17). It is undisputed that the only faculty designated parking was located on the south side of Hubbard Drive which would not have required the Claimant to cross Hubbard Drive at all. As found by the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission, the Claimant’s accident resulted because of the Claimant’s discretionary choice to park in the parking lot located on the north side of Hubbard Drive that did not contain any faculty designated parking spaces. (R. p. 4, Appellate Panel Order - Finding of Fact No. 14).

Because the Claimant did not want to take the time to locate an available parking space on the south side of Hubbard Drive she elected to park on the north side of Hubbard Drive which did not contain any faculty designated parking. In fact, by the Claimant’s own admission, the parking lot that she used was open to the general public that visited the Carole Ray Dowling building to

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